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I. INTRODUCTION
A. Project Description

The New York City Department of Sanitation proposes to
build a 2,000 ton-per-day resource recovery facility adjacent to
Newtown Creek in the Borough of Queens, New York. This proposed
resource recovery facility will be constructed on approximately
eight acres of vacant land, and will include the following com-
ponent structures: an administration building, parking area,
roadways, boilers, scrubbers, baghouses, cooling towers, fans,

a scale house, a turbine/generator building, a maintenance
building, ash storage, and a plant vehicle and equipment storage
area.

This report presents the results of a Phase lA cultural
resource survey of the proposed construction site conducted by
HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVES of Riverside, Connecticut. The purpose
of this survey was to evaluate the archaeological potential of
the project area; that is, to locate or determine the possible
existence of prehistéric or historic sites and cultural remains
within the study area thatrmight be affected by the proposed
construction of the resource recovery facility, and to recommend
appropriate measures with respect to such sites if they exist.

Archaeclogical remains are vital and irreplaceabla re-
sources for futéfe re;earch and for an objective approach to
cultural interpfetation of any community or region. Historical
or prehistoric sites represent the tangible remains of past
ways of life, the study of which can provide us with a better

understanding of human culture in this area of Queens. This



cultural resource survey is a contribution to such better under~-
standing in its attempt to locate, record, and preserve the
vestiges of our past.

B. Study Area

The proposed resource recovery facility is located at the
confluence of Newtown Creek and Maspeth Creek in the Borough of
Queens, New York. The site can be located on the Brooklyn Quad-.
rangle, United States Geclogical Survey Map, 7.5' series. (See
Figure 1)

The study area consists of approximately eight acres of
land on which there are three buildings. Specifically, it is
bounded by Maspeth Creek on the north, 48th Street on the east,
Department of Sanitation property and Newtown Creek on the south,
and Newtown C;eek on the west. The area surrounding the Maspeth .
project site is -an industrialized zqné. The industrial activi~
ties around and on the site include trucking terminals, ware-
housing, automotive salvage, and small manufacturing operations.

A summary of the land use over time of the project parcel
and the surrounding study area as well as a description of the

property will be presented later in this report.
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II. ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESEARCH DESIGN

This cultural resource sensitivity survey was carried out in
three basic steps. The standard methodclogy from which the fol-
lowing list was abstracted was written by E4d Lenik for Historical

Perspectives' "Resource Recovery Project: Barretto Point Site," a

1986 Phase IA documentary study.

A. Background Research
In an attempt to identify known or potential prehistoric
and historic cultural resources, an intensive search of the
literature was carried out at the Long Island division of the
Queens Borough Public Library, the New York Public Library,
the New York Historical Society, the New York City Landmarks
Preservation Commission, and the State Historical Preservation
Office and New York State Museum in Albany. From the outset,
the accumulation of historical documentation of all types per-
taining to the project area was considered to be of primary im-
portance. Maps of the 17th, 18th, 19th, and 20th centuries
formed the basis for the start of the cultural resource survey.
Several contacts were made with individuals knowledgeable
in the history apd prehistory of the area. Interviews.were
conducted with &;ui written data solicited from historians, pro-
fessional and avﬁcational archaeologists as well as one long
time resident and worker in the area in order to elicit infor-
mation about the location and nature of prehistoric and historic
sites, and to determine land use within the project area. In
summary, primary data was sought from all of the sources consulted
including historical documentation, archaeclogical site reports,

and personal knowledge of the area.



B. Field Survey

A careful walk-over reconnaissance of the Maspeth resource

recovery site was conducted in an attempt to locate and identify
any existing cultural resources and to evaluate the archaelog-
ical potential of the area. This aspect of the research design
had to address a major land-use situation that was present
within the project area, namely the site has undergone consid-
erable disturbance in the past as manifested in the form of land
£illing, dumping, as well as building construction and destruc-
tion activities. These land alterations will be described later
inthis report as well as the effect of such activities on the
integrity of potential cultural resources. Nevertheless, the
project area was examined closely during the course of this
project.

C." Environmental Analysis

The prediction of prehistoric site locations involves the
use of various kinds of information including environmental,
archaeological, historic, and ethno-historic data. At this
particular site, environmental and geomorphological conditions
were important criteria in developing a hypothesis regarding
the presence or absence of prehistoric cultural resources. In
making this detegﬁination, the following environmental factors
were considered:;

1. Topography: Variables within this category include
landform and elevation. This information was primarily derived
from historic maps, the U.S.G.S. topographic map, and our own

field reconnaissance.



2. Geology and Soils: The factors considered here
are type and areal extent of bedrock formation and soils. The
permeability of the soil within the site was also considered.

3. Water: Under this category are variables concern-

~ing the nature and location of water supply. The proximity to a

fresh water source would have been a primary determinant in site

location for prehistoric peoples.

4. Availability of Floral and Faunal Resources: The
availability and utilization of the natural resources within the
area would have been of crucial importance to prehistoric groups,
Prehistoric -peoples' search for subsistence resources was
continued: they naturally chose those areas in which food re
sources appeared in greatest abundance.

5; Palecenvironmental Conditions: The environmental
context in which prehistoric peoples lived must be considered in'
the search for prehistoric occupation zones within the project
area.

6. Availability of Technological Raw Materials: The
availability of the raw materials needed to fashion tools and
other items is an important consideration in the assessment of an
area for 1ike1{hood of prehistoric occupation.

7. éistoric and Current Land Use: As previously

4
noted, known fhnd alterations must be considered in order to
assess the extent of potential disturbance to any cultural
remains that may have been deposited over thousands of years by
prehistoric peoples. Such environmental factors could equally
affect the cultural deposits of the more recent historic popula-

tions as well.



III. ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING

The surface of western Long Island consists of seyeral
interesting landforms. Each land feature originated through the
action of some past geclogical process which led to the develop-
ment of a variety of flora and fauna. In turn, these factors
have had a tremendous impact on prehistoric peoples and their
settlement and subsistence patterns in this area. However, the
historic period land use, particularly in the twentieth century,
has drastically altered the original features of the landscape.
The following narrative is a synopsis of the major natural envir-
onmental charqcteristics of the study area.

The Resource Recovery - Maspeth site on western Long Island
is physiographically part of the Coastal Plain. Long 1Island is
the top of a Coastal Plain ridge formation that is covered with
glacial drift. In reality the plain is an elevated sea bottom
demonstrating low topographic relief and extensive marshy tracts.
{Eisenberg, 1978:p. 7) Continental glaciation affected the sur-
ficial geology of Long Island as the glacier advanced and receded
at least three times in the last million years. The Ronkonkoma
and Harbor Hill were two‘sub-stages of glaciation, whose melting
fronts left a series of ridges (moraineé) across the length of
Long Island. (ﬁisniewski, 1977:p. 1; See Fig. 2 ) Glaciai till
and outwash, ;Ensisting of clay, sand, gravel, and boulders were
deposited by the melting ice sheet. For approximately the last
3,000 years the project site has been part of a meandering creek
system. "These develop in the first place purely as drainage

channels, and are the result not so much of erosion as of



non-deposition.”" (Small, 1972:p. 465)

The topography of the Maspeth project site is generally
low and flat. The highest land elevations (20 foot contour
level) are at an unnatural rise in the southeastern corner of the
site, bordering the DOS property. Construction of trucking
terminals and large scale dumping activities on the project site
have considerably altered the pre-1900 landscape. The World War
ITI mobilization efforts drastically altered the street plan in
the project site vicinity. For example, the original route of
Maspeth Avenue moved west, southwest from the intersection with
Maurice Avenue, running parallel to Grand Street, until crossing
Newtown Creek at approximately the same location that the curren
58th Road intersects with Newtown Creek. (See Fig. 3) Prior t
this century.the project site was the marshy part of an island

completely surrounded by three watercourses: Maspeth Creek

on the north, Newtown Creek on the west and south and Shanty
Creek to the east. (See Fig.4 ) Both the western boundary and
the northern boundary of the site are now stabilized by an ap-
proximately six foot high rip rap hulkﬁead.

Presently situated on the project site are three major
building complexes (which include one and two story offices,
basements, loadgng platforms), each housing a warehouse/trucking
terminal busineés. Major portions of the property are covered
with concrete or aéphalt pavement. The vegetation presently
found on the site is typical of disturbed or waste disposal
places. In particular, the trees are rapidly growing species

that are commonly found on waste sites and burned areas. Several



specimens of Ailanthus were found on the western and northern
periphery of the project site, as well as American or Trembling
Aspen, a quick growing poplar found in sandy or rocky soils and
burnt-over land, and wild cherry species. Sumac, goldenrod,

poison ivy, and a mixture of weed grasses cover the unpaved

portions of the project site.

Wy,



Iv, CULTURAL BACKGROUND: 'THE PREHISTORIC PERIOD
A. Introduction
The north shore of Long Island is regularly indented by

bays and estauaries - a legacy of the last advance of the Wis-
consinian glaciation of 10,000 - 12,000 years ago. Iﬁdian
settlement at each of these verges between fresh rivers and salt
bays is known both £from early documents and archaeological re-
search conducted over the past 100 years. The proposed Resource
Recovery facility is situated at the confluence of Maspeth Creek
and Newtown Creek. As can be noted on several of the attachéd
maps, the péoject site was a marshland prior to the twentie
century when it was greatly altered by landfill activities. (s
Figures 5 & 6 ) Both avocational and professional archaeologiéis
have collected Indian artifacts, and conducted excavations within
close proximity to the project site and to other locations of
comparable topography. Therefore. the archaeoclogical research
on the prehistoric potential of +this property focused on thne
probable exploitation of the geographic advantages of the site
area. In other words, the prehistoric settlement pattern indi-
cates that salt and fresh water wetlands were of a great deal
of importance to the Native Americans. We must determine the
probability th&t this known preference was realized in the past
on the Resource Recovery - Maspeth site and whether the intensity
of such site exploitatipn would warrant any further archaeoclogi=-
cal consideration.

To understand how native Americans exploited different en-

vironmental niches over time, it is necessary to separate the
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prehistoric peoples into time periods according to their distinct
cultural differences. Archaeologists divide the Native American
period into three sub-periods: the Paleo-Indian, the Archaic, and

the Woodland, which are further divided as shown below:

PERIOD YEARS BEFORE PRESENT (BP)
Paleo-Indian 13,000 - 10,000
Early Archaic 10,000 -~ 8,000
Middle Archaic 8,000 - 6,000
Late Archaic 6,000 =~ 3,700
Terminal Archaic 3,700 = 2,700
Early Woodland 2,700 - 2,000
Middle woodland 2,000 - 1,200
Late Woodland 1,200 - 300 [

The following discussion of prehistoric human occupatién
provides a basis on which to anticipate the kinds of cultural
remains or site that may be found in the Maspeth site study area.
A brief dscription of the three periods of prehistoric culture
history is presented first. This information summarizes the ways
in which prehistoric pecoples lived in the northeastern United
States in general and in coastal New York in particular. These

prehistdric cultural segquences describe the particular technolo-

‘gies, lifestylig; and environmental contexts of the three time

L 4

periods. g

The prehistory of Queens has been researched extensively,
and the available data. provides excellent background material
with which to assess the project area. A search of the litera-~
ture on the project area, which includes Bolton 1922, Solecki

1941, Grumet 1981, and TEE COASTAL ARCHAEOLOGY READER 1978 and
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1982, has identified a prehistoric site in close proximity to the
Maspeth site. This documented site, although directly outside
our immediate project zone} when studied in conjunction with
other recorded sites on Long Island that demonstrate environmen-
tal characteristics comparable to the Maspeth site, gives us a
good picture of prehisteoric settlement and subsistence patterns.
Furthermore, additional information was sought through personal
contact with local informants.

The absence of previous systematic field investigations
has made it difficult to identify the study area's prehistoric
cultural resources. Nevertheless, our survey and analysis
evaluates the probable attractiveness of the study area for
prehistoric peoples and the. areas where they.were likely to have
lived and worked. We consider the archaeological potential of
the area by correlating environmental and cultural history in the
region.

B. Prehistoric Culture Periods

The Paleo-Indian Period (c.13,000 B.P. - 10,000 B. P.)

Early man arrived in the New World sometime before 13,000
years ago. These early Americans, who we call Paleo-Indians, mi-
grated from Siberia across the Bering Land Bridge to Alaska dur-
ing the Late P%gistocene or Ice Age. They undoubtedly came down
from Alaska du:i%g the Two Creeks Interstadial around 12,000
vears ago when an ice-free cqrri¢o; ppened_ug between two massive
glaciers that covered Canada. During this period, the Indians
relied heavily on large pleistocene herbivore for food, such as

mammoth, mastodan, caribou, and musk ox. These 1Indians were
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hunters and gatherers, a nomadic people who roamed widely in
search of food, and their settlement pattern consisted of small

temporary camps. The diagnostic artifact of the Paleo-Indian

-period is the fluted projectile point. However, these people

made other sophisticated tools as well, such as gravers, steep-
edge scrapers, knives, drills, and other unifacial tools. The
only evidence of Paleo Period occupation in Queens County is a
projectile point mentioned in Saxon (1973), as noted in Rutsch
(1970), for which no provenience has been obtainable from the
Museum of the American Indian. The scarcity of recorded Paleo-
Indian sites ;n this region, due in large part to the rise in sea
level since 3,000 years ago, is evident on the two followin

maps. (See Figs. 748 )

In relation to this specific parcel, there is a strong

- likelihood that the nomadic hunters of the Paleo~Indian Period

would have expleoited the natural elevated knoll on the site for
hunting and/or camping. The Resource Recovery project site that
was a salt marsh when-the Europeans first settled in Queens was
an exposed dry meadow during this time. There is, however, such
a minimumm of knowledge on the habitation system and population
density of this earliest time that we cannot predict the extent
of any such poiéible resource. It is evident that more scienti-

fically documented field excavations of this Period would greatly

aid our understanding of southern New York's past.

The Archaic Perjod (c.10,000 B.P, - 2,700 B.P,)

In the coastal and tidewater area of New York the Archaic

Stage followed the Paleo-Indian stage (c. 9,000 years agec) and is
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"represented by numerous, small, nearly always multi-component
sites, variously situated on tidal inlets, coves and bays, parti-
cularly at the heads of the latter, and on fresh-water pbnds on
Long Island, Shelter Island, Manhattan Island, Fisher's Island,
and Staten Island and along the lower Hudson River on terraces
and knolls, at‘various elevations having no consistent relation-
ship to the particular culturai complex." (Ritchie, 1980:p. 143)
The Archaic Period produced a major shift in the settlement and
subsistence patterns of the Native Americans. Hunting and
gathering were still the basic ways of life during this period,
sgé_the emphagis in subsistence shifted from the large pleisto-
cene herbivores, who were rapidly becoming extinct, to smalle
game and plants of the deciduous forest. The settlement patter
of the Archaic people indicates larger, more permanent habitatién
sites than the Paleo-Indians. These people were increasingly
more efficient in the exploitation of their environment. The
hallmarks of this period are grinding implements, ground stone
tools, and, toward the end of this period, or Terminal Archaic,
the use of stone (steatite) bowls.

Discoveries in Staten 1Island by amateur archaeologists
produced the first unequivocal evidence for Early Archaic
expressions iné?ew York State comparable to those in the south-
eastern United Btates. One of the most well known sites in
Staten Island, the Tottenville site, was discovgred under the
modern landfill overburden (6-27 inches thick) containing sand,
pebbles, bits of coal, and iron. (Ritchie and Funk, 1973:p. 38)

The Wading River site on eastern Long Island is one of the
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largest Archaic stage sites in the Northeast and is the most com-
pletely explored in the New York coastal district. This small
stemmed point complex* is located on a marsh on the north shore
of Suffolk County. The Wading River salt marsh occupies an
embayment that is surrounded on three sides by the Harbor Hill
terminal moraine, which is as much as 180-200 feet high, locally.
The hills sufrounding the marsh are dissected by several small
valleys with streams, mostly intermittent, that £flow northward
into the Wading River tidal creek. Four sites actually made up
the Wading River Archaic component and these sites can be studied
for a trend in the Archaic expleoitation of a water resource thﬁt
might be applicable to the Resource Recovery project site. Thre
of the sites were situated on low protected spots on the lee ©
eastern side of a prominent finger of land fronting the marsh.
"They occupied small stretches of essentially level ground, in
one case in an old erosional valley. The sites shared similar
elevations, the edge of the dry ground ranging from about 2 to 7
feet above mean high water." (Wyatt, 1982:p. 71) Cultural de-
posits at two of the sites extended underneath the marsh and
three of the sites were immediately adjacent to fresh-water
springs. One of the sites, a toolmaking station, was situated on
low,open, flaé grounnd on the northeastern side of that same
prominent finggi of land, facing out across a finger of marsh
onto the Sound. All of the sites were small in scale, ranging

from 10,000 sg. ft. and revealed shallow cultural deposits, often

* "Small Stemmed Point" is only one of several names assigned
to a regional Late Archaic cultural adaptation pattern that is
based on a diagnostic peoint type.
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less than two or three feet deep (ibid.:p. 71)

The Woodland Period (c.2,700 B.P. - 300 B.P.)

By the time of the Woodland stage the sea level and ex-
posed coastal regions were, in most respects, as they appear to-
day. In general, the hunting and gathering way of life persisted

in this period, but several important changes toock place. Horti-

 culture began during this period and later bacame well establish-

ed with the cultivation of maize, beans, and sgquash. (Lynn Ceci's
recent theories on the development of maize cultivation as a re-
sultant factor of contact with 0ld World culture has created an
expressed need for datable evidence of maize culﬁivation in the
Long Island area.) .Clay pottery vessels replaced steatit
bowls, and tobacco pipes and smoking were adopted. Alsoc, the bo
and arrow replaced the spear and javelin during this pericd.

The habitation sites of the Woodland Indians. increased in
size and permanence as these people continued to extract food
more efficiently from their environment. The archaeological
evidence from Woodland stage sites indicates a strong preference
for large scale habitﬁtion sites to be within very close proximi-
ty to a major fresh water source, eg., a river, a lake, an exten-
sive wetland, and smaller scale extractive-funtioning sites to be
situated at othfr resource\locales, e.gd., guarrying sites, butch-
ering stations ,';;shell gathering localities. During <the Early
wWoodland times the interior sites were rarely used. Middlesex
Phase sites of Early Woodland items have been encountered during
gravel and sand digginé in a knoll or terrace near a river or

lake. (Ritchie, 1980:p. 201) Late Woodland stage sites of the
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BEast River Tradition in southern New York have been noted on the
"second rise of ground above high water level on tidal inlets”
and situated "on tidal streams or coves" and on "well-drained
sites." (ibid.:pp. 264-5) The archaeclogical record details many
coastal sites and defines a preference by Woodland stage peoples
to exploit well-drained 1localities. Carlyle S. Smith, who
studied and analyzed the distribution of prehistoric ceramics in
coastal New York, states that "wvillage siteé“ are found on the
margins of bays and tidal streams. (Smith, 1950:p. 130)

A great number of archaeological investigations have dealt
with the Woodland subsistence pattern - winters spent at shelter-
ed inland hunting camps, springs at river £falls and estuary headl
fishing villages, summers with whole families at locations near
their planting fields (often near the coast) and through the har-
vest, autumns at dispersed hunting camps. (Luedtke, 1980:p. 26)
There remain many unanswered questions on the human adaptation to
both the seasonal and the long term environmental changes and
stresses that faced the Native Americans. Lynn Ceci, a Long
Island archaeologist, maintains that the seemingly Late Woodland
subsistence pattern changes (i.e., coastal zone concentrations
and majze cultivation) were, in fact, adaptations to early con-
tact with Eurqseans. It is crucial to these research topics
that research d%signs and methodological approaches to archaeoclo-
gical sites with potential subsurface integrity be appropriately

developed to provide data to address these gquestions.
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C. Archaeclogical Sites in the Maspeth Area

There are no recorded prehistoric or historic sites
located within the specific boundaries of the Resource Recovery -
Maspeth site. However there are reports of a prehistoric village
site within close proximity and records from the 1930s place a
prehistoric site due east of the project site. At our reguest
the New York State Education Department/New York State Museum
Anthropological Serivces c¢onducted a site file search for the
location and description of prehistoric, archaeological sites in
the project area. Acccording to their records-a prehistoric
site (#4536) is located due east (approximately 1300 feet) of the
southern limit of the project boundaries. This site location ha
not. however, been field verified by the Services and is derive
from Arthur iL.\Parker's THE ARCHAECLOGICAL HISTORY OF NEW YOﬁK
(1920). (Phil Lord, personal communication, 8/8/86) It is possi-
ble that Parker's identification of this prehistoric site {Queens
County 13: a village site at the head of Newtown Creek) was de-
pendent upon the same nineteenth century sources that guided
Reginald Bolton. A review of the inventoried sites filed with
the State Historic Preservation Officer (as listed on the topo-
graphic quads) did not reveal a prehistoric or historic archaeo-
logical site w%?hin close proximity to the project site.

AS can :be seen on Lightfoot's map of "The spatial pattern
of coastal New York sites that are reported in the published
literature,"”" there are numerous sites on the Long Island coast-
line and these sites are mostly concentrated at bays and inlets.

(See Fig. 8)
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In ANNALS OF NEWTOWN (1852) Riker states on page 73 that
a scattering of Indians remained for a number of years, "some of
whom had their wigwams at Mespat Kills," after the purchase of
their property by the colonists. HBe further writes that "The
rude implements which they uséd in the pursuits of peace and the
prosecution of war, are the only existing momentoes of the red
men of Newtown. These consist chiefly of stone axes and arrow-
heads, and arrows of reed. The 1late Judge Furman, of Maspeth,
had a handsome collection of them, procured in that neighbor-
hood." We can only speculate that Judge Furman recovered a
portion of his collection from his own estate which included the
island and marsh, referred to as Furman's Island, that now host
the Resource Recovery - Maspeth site. ]

Earlier in this century Reginald Bolton researched the
Indian past of New York City and reported that at the time of
European influx the Rockaway Chieftaincy stretched diagonally
across Long Island from Maspeth to Rockaway, and its territory
included all of the modern township of Newtown, the southern part
of Hempstead, the region arcund Rockville Center, and the ocean
front of Far Rockaway. The Rockaway territory was largely dis-
posed of by an immense sale of land extending from Hempstead to
Rockaway inletEiin 1685, by Pamas (then the "sagamore") and
others. (Bolté;, 1920:p. 275) These Native Americans, according
to Bolton, had formed subordinate chieftaincies and maintained
numerous stations in what is now the borough of Queens. One such
subordinate chieftaincy, the Mispat, resided in the region around

the extensive inlet of Newtown Creek, known to the natives as
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Mespaetches.

Maspeth creek, which extends in a northeasterly
direction between the Laurel hill and Linden hill
sections as far as Maspeth, perpetuates the native name

of the entire inlet, and was probably applied to the
native station as well.

The position of that settlement is indicated by the
discovery from time to time of native artifacts upon
the Maspeth hills. The situation alsc appears to have
been desirable for native residence, as the creek
provided fresh water at its source, and the elevation
afforded a wide view over surrounding country. A
village-site might have been locked for in the vicinity
of Borden avenue and Willow avenue. [Borden Avenue is

north of the project site,] Neighboring territory

lying south and east of this station was desirably

sloping and well-drained 1land upon which the natives

doubtless had their cul®ivated clearings. (Bolten,

1922:p. 174; See Fig. 10)

Robert Grumet's more recent research into the verifica-
tion of Indian Sites and names in New York City states thg
although a "wigwam at Mashpathkills" was noted in July of 1669
and past investigators have suggested that Maspeth was also the
name of a Canarsee division that had its settlements scattered
above the wetlands of Newtown Creek the existence of such a divi-
sion or village at Maspeth has not been revealed in the surviving
documentation. (Grumet, 198l:p. 27) Instead of an established
village there could very well have been & concentration of
temporary and seasonal specialized Procurement camps on the_
hillocks borderéﬁg the confluence of the two streams, that is,
the Indians wére collecting shellfish and 6ther aguatic food
resources in the area.

Evidence of prehistoric activity to subsfaﬁtiate a

Native American presence in the Maspeth Creek/Newtown Creek site

area has come from archaeologists active in Queens during the
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1930s. Ralph Solecki, Columbia University professor active in
Queens archaeclogy since the 1930s, has mapped many of the sites
that he knows were extant in the Borough of Queens prior to the
1940s. As can be seen on Figure 11 , Solecki and the Committee
on American Anthropology of the Flushing Historical Society iden-
tified a concentration of prehistoric activity fronting on the
confluence of the Newtown and Maspeth Creeks. More precisely,
Solecki stated that "A large site was situated near the Furman
burial plot on Maspeth Creek, an arm of Newtown Creek." {This
location is directly east of the Resource Recovery Project site.
See Fig.23 ;Solecki, 194l:n.p.) The Long Island Division of the
Queens Borough Public Library (Merrick Avenue, Jamaica) maintain

the photographic file of Solecki's work in the borough. As evi-

dent by copies of some of these archaeclogical site photos (Sée
Figures12 -17) the area east, scutheast (approximately 2000 feet)
of the Resource Recovery project site was a loci of prehistoric
exploitation. Lithic materials were collected from this then
vacant land by Solecki, his associate Stan Wisniewski and Michael
Sarmuksnis. These investigations and findings have beéh summar-

ized by Wisniewski.

The region between Maspeth Avenue and the creek to the
north, and:the sloping ground south of Maspeth Avenue
produced hundreds of artifacts when Ralph Soclecki and I
visited tie area in the early 1930s. At that time,
Maspeth Avenue cut through a sandy embankment in this
vicinity, and seemingly terminated at the on going
dumping that was taking place on the swampy ground east
of Furman's Island. [The filling in of the Shanty
Creek marsh.] A. variety of Archaic type projectile
points, as well as knives and scrapers, surfaced during
the several years we explored this area. A small shell
midden existed on a bluff south of Maspeth Avenue, and
a small pit of oyster shell was excavated on a slope
north of the Avenue, none of which, to my knowledge,
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produced anything of significance. Only two small
ceramic sherds of Indian origin were found during this
period - indication of a rather short occupation by the
Woodland Period People. A round, well worn grinding
stone indicates the presence of agriculture in the
area. A notched stone adze and a broken gouge were
signs that dugouts were made and used in the nearby
creek waters. (Wisniewski, 1986:p. 14)
In the 1930s the low portions of the actual project site were
already being covered over with garbage and £ill and this pre-
vented Ralph Sclecki and Stan Wisniewski from fully investigat-
ing the elevated 1land west of Shanty Creek - includiﬁg the
project area. (Solecki, personal communication, 4/28/86)

Dr. Scolecki has published an article on the Maspeth
contact peried site, "A Seventeenth-Century Fireplace a
Maspteth, Long Island," that he and Stan Wisniewski found i
1935. Located 30 feet south of Maspéth Avenue between Maspeth
Creek and the now extinct Shanty Creek, the c. 1650 fireplace
remains were associated with "two pieces of reddish-clay pipe
bowls, which seem to have been fashinioned in c¢rude imitation of
the European Kaclin pipes," red and black flint debitage and a
"broken reject artifact of dark flint." (Solecki, 1948:p. 327)
Dated principally by the style of the recovered white kaolin pipe
fragments, this site represented the "borderline phase" of
Queens' history; (ibid.: p. 329)

It has H%en impossible to precisely locate on the modern

landscape Bolton's village site and references to artifacts from

-the Maspeth Hills are not gecgraphically definitive. The Solecki

and wisniewski sites were directly east of the project area. The
sites discovered and excavated earlier in this century nc longer

exist in the highly developed and disturbed industrial park of
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west Maspeth. Furthermore, it must be noted that all of the
sites described above are outside but within one mile of the
Maspeth project zone. Therefore, although no sites have been
recorded within the study area the potential is there for the
existence of undiscovered prehistoric cultural resources. We

will discuss and analyze this possibility in the Field Survey

section of this report.

""""‘l'.
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V. CULTURAL BACKGROUND: THE HISTORIC PERIOD

The first white men to inhabit that part of Long Island
now known as Queens.were fur traders under the administration
of the Dutch West India Company who came in the early years of
the seventeenth century. But toward the middle of that century
the lands were opened to settlement by both Dutch and English.
In 1642 "Reverend Francis Doughty received patent to Mispot or
English Kills ('Kill" is the Dutch word for a small stream or
tidal inlet) at the head of Newtown Creek." (Queens Borough
Library, BULLETIN #650,193%) Doughty, who had come to this coun-
try seeking religious freedom, was granted 14,000 acres "inclu-
ding practically all of the present Long Island City and New-
town" which would take in the Resource Recovery site. (Von
Skal, 1908:p.24) But he had a land dispute with Gov. Kieft,
who, as Directory-General of New Netherland had granted the

land patent. Kieft fined him "ten dollars and twenty-four hours

- imprisonment,” and Doughty thereupon left for Flushing in a

huff. (ibid.:p.24)

Considering the amount of encroachment by the white man
onto his lands, it was inevitable that conflict between the

settlers and theilIndians should erupt. "In August, 1643, the “

hostility burst %ut in Kieft's War. Provoked by an unresclved
murder, the Dutch massacred an inoffensive Indian village. In
retaliation the Long Island bands joined with their New Jersey
and Westchester neighbor; in a massibe effort to burn the Euro-
peans’' farms. Among those they fell upon were the settlers at
Maspeth. With their farmsteads in flames, townsmen fled to

Manhattan." (Erlich, 1979:p.8)
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Maspeth is the current name of the area in which both the

original village settlement of Mespat and the Resource Recovery
sité are located. (Maspeth "is derived from both the English
and Dutch versions of Mespaetches or Maspechtes, which approa-
ches the idiom of the aborigines. The names 'Mespat' and
'Mispat' appear in seventeenth century writings and maps...
Mispat appears on A. Van der Doncks map of 1656, which apparently
had been copied by later cartographers." (Solecki, 1948:p.325;
Fig.18 ) Mespat village was situated at the end of a tribu-
tary - called Maspeth Creek - of Newtown Creek. The Resource
Recovery parcel was at that time part of an island
lying west and.slightly south of the village and bounded
by both Newtown Creek and Maspeth Creek. Newtown Creek opens
into the East River and is part of the boundary between Queens
and Brooklyn. The Maspeth area was also part of what was once
known as English Kills which referred to "the side of Newtown
Creek which was colonized by English settlers, while Dutch Kills
refers to Bushwick on the other side of Newtown Creek [Brooklyn],
where the Dutch began their settlement.” (Stankowski, 1977:
p.9) On Figure 8 , a copy of James Riker's 1852 map, these
places are located: Bushwick, English Kills, Newtown Creek,
Mas?eth, and Fux?an's Island are named and Maspeth Creek, while
not named, is thé.little finger of Ne-wtown Creek pointing toward
Maspeth.

The island, whose land mass was between 35 and 45 acres,’

was known over the years as Smith's Island, Maspeth Island and
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finally Furman's Island., It survived into the second decade of
the twentieth century when filling and silting gradually erased
the pattern of inlets which separated it from the maiﬁland.
There is lively speculation among scholars about the origin
of the first appellétion - Smith's Island - which was in use
during surely one of the most interesting periods in the is-
land's history. After Kieft's War of 1643, another attempt was
made to establish the village of Mespat, but during the English-
Dutch war of 1652-1654, many of the settlers abandoned their
pecarious location for the relative safety of Connecticut. Yet

"another alarm was made in 1656, when this time the the Dutch

neighbors of the English at Mespat, in fear of retaliations from
the Indians, banded together for safety. They concentrated

themselves for safety on Smith's Island at English Kills."

(Solecki, 1948,p.325) The name was apparently already in
place at that time since "Smith's Island" appears on the

tax assessor's list for 1656. "Some historians believe that
the Island was named for the brothers Smith who, through their
agent Reverend Doughty, were granted the Newtown Patent of
1642. Other historians believe that Smith's Island was named
for Hendrik Barentze, a Dutch smith, who owned property in the
area of Flushinngvenue and Onderdonck Avenue, Ridgewood, and
who was active Jith the Dutch government in New Amsterdam."

(Stankowski,1977:p. %)

The Dutch who settled on the island were led by Nicasius
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De Sille who had obtained the patent to the island on March 27,
1656. The new settlement was named Aernheim after his birth-
place on the Rhine River. (Solecki,l1948:p.325) "At that time,
the Governor ordered the Island surveyed and houselots and
streets laid out for building...No record of the settlers who
occupied Arnhem [sic] exists, but we do know that several fam-
ilies were dwelling there in 1660 when the Dutch town of Boswyck
(Bushwick) was laid out and founded. At that time, Governor
Petrus Stuyvesant was concerned that the village of Arnhem would
prove an impediment to the development of the new Dutch town,

so he ordered the village destroyed and the houses torn down.”
(Stankowski,1977;p.9) According to historian James Riker,

"This spring [1660] terminated the existence of the village of
Aernhem, on Smith's Island...the following year the tenantless
cottages were removed." (Riker, 1852:p.50)

From that year in the mid-seventeenth century until the
nineteenth century the small island - now attached to the main-
land and the site of the proposed Resource Recovery plant -
was used very little if at all. One important reason for this
was undoﬁbtedly its separation from the mainlaﬁd by three water-
courses and its uneven and partially mafshy topography described
in Section III EQVIRONMENTAL SETTING of this report. Therefore,
it should be no%?d when reading the following historical summary
that the events and places discussed relate to the general
Maspeth area rather than to the specific Project Parcel unless

sO indicated.
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One of the earliest landowners in the area was James Way,
an Englishman, who settled at the "English Kills" about 1650.

He died in 1685 and his son John acguired the paternal farm in
1691. John's son James came into possession in 1729. He died
in 1788, leaving two unmarried sons. The land passed to Samuel
Way, son of James' brother Samuel; he died here in 1798. His
only daughter Jane married Dr. Henry Mott in 1784. Mott resided
at Glen Cove until 1799 and then came to Maspeth. In 1815 Dr.
Mott sold the Way Estate to Garrit Furman.

The Way farmhouse was a small two-room structure located
just north of what is now Maspeth Avenue and just west of the
present railroad tracks. It was still standing down to about
1928. The Motts established a family burying ground alongside
the Way farmhouse and Dr. Henry was buried there in December .
1839%. The plot was enclosed by a strong granite wall and iron
railing. (Seyfried,1986:p.l) When commerce and vandals threat-
ened to overwhelm the little plot, the Quakers in January 1950
dug up the thirteen graves and transferred them tc Prospect
Park in Brooklyn. ((PRIVATE AND FAMILY CEMETERIES IN THE .. _.::
BORDUGH-OF .QUEENS, 1932: an insert in the volume says"New York
Supreme Court, File 73, 1950: Application fo the New York Monthly
Meeting, Religighs Society of Flushing, as trustee of certain
trust under the%last will testament of Eliza Mott and Ma;ia
Mott Hobby. Received January 10,1950 an order authorizing the
Society to disinter the bodied in Queens cemetery and bury in
Prospect Park Cemetery, Brooklyn.") The Motts had been the

most prominent Quakers in Maspeth. Figures19 and 20 are photo-
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copies of two pages from the CEMETERIES volume - one showing

a plan view of the approximately 40 x 40 plot and the other
listing the interred persons. Figure 21 is a 1927 photograph
showing the Way-Mott farmhouse and the burial ground to its right.
Figure 22 is a tracing of a 1908 Belcher Hyde Atlas showing the
locations of the farmhouse and cemetery (note the distance from
the island which was then still extant.) The cartographer has
erroneously identified the burial plot as a "reservoir."™ Fig-
ure 23 also shows the relative positions of the various landmarks
and topographical features being discussed.

Like the Mott and Furman families who followed them as

owners of the Maspeth property, the Ways were prominent citizens
of their community. In his ANNALS OF NEWTOWN, James Riker in-
cluded a chapter on the genealogical history of some outstanding-
and old families of the area {Maspeth was part of fhe larger
Newtown area). Of the Way family he said, in paft, that James
Way was "an early and reputable settler at the English Kills,
where he acquired a large estate, including the premises of the
late Judge Furman." (Riker, 1852:p.378) By 1760, the Quakers,

to which religion Maspeth settlers largely belonged, decided

to construct a Meeting House. They obtained a plot of land
through the off%?es of Captain Richard Betts and James Way and
soon had built their Meeting House., The location of this old
structure lies under the present St. Stanislaus R.C. Church

of Maspeth located at 6lst Street and Maspeth Avenue (a number

of blocks east of the project parcel). The cemetery which ad-
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joined the Meeting House fell into poor condition in the 1930s,
and its site also lies under the property of St. Stanislaus
Church. (Wisniewski,1986:p.4)

During the first decade of the 1700s, Judge Joseph Sackett
built a large Dutch colonial house on a hill at the top of
Maspeth Creek. This building had a double veranda, in the
manner of Dutch plantation houses, and commanded a fine view
of the length of Maspeth and Newtown Creeks. The house had
several distinguished owners over the years including the
Governor of New York State aﬁd builder of the Erie Canal, De
Witt Clinton. 1In 1765 during the French and Indian Wars, Judge
Sackett died, and his home went to Walter Franklin, a wealthy
New York merchant who occupied the house until 1780. In that
year the house passed to Colonel Issac Corsa, a hero of the
French and Indian War. When the British took possession of
Long Island, the Sackett-Clinton House became the headquarters
of General Warren. (This site has been leveled and lies at
the foot of 56th Terrace on the right and before the railroad
tracks. Figure 24 shows the commerative marker.) (ibid.,1986:p.5)

"During the Revolution considerable numbers of the people
joined the loyalists, and the county was mostly in quiet posses=-
sion of the enemy." (French, 1860:p.545). "The village [of
Maspeth] was ofg}mportance in the Revolutionary war; from the
porch of the Olé Queen's Head tavern, which stood near the corner
of Fifty-eight Street and Maspeth Avenue, General Howe watch ed
his troops embark triuméhantly, after the Battle of Long Island,

down Maspeth Creek for Manhattan." (WPA,1939:p.579) "In
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summer and in winter the soldiers [British] spent their idle
moments at the local tavern called the Queens Head. The Queens
Head Tavern was located at the Maspeth Town Dock, on the South
East corner of Maspeth Avenue and 57th Avenue, which was then
0ld Flushing Avenue. The tavern was built by the Township of
Newtown, about 1720, and was rented to various tavern keepers
over the years. During the Revolution it was owned by Captain
Peter Berton, who sold it in 1783 at the end of the British
occupation. - It was owned privately thereafter and survived to
become an Amoco Gas Station in the 1930s before it was finally
demolished."” (Stankowski,l1977:p.29; Figure 25 shows the location
of the old town dock.)

When the Furman family took over, they made the Maspeth
Creek area famous. Garritt Furman was a successful lawyer and -
bought the Maspeth site as part of the property of his summer
retreat. The purchase included not only Furman's Island (as it
then became known) and where the Resource facility is to be built,
but alsoc the land east to Maspeth Village and south to the
Bushwick line. Hereylin 1817-1819,-Garrit Furman erected an
imposing mansion in the Federal style. It was two and a half
stories in height, with a recessed portico in the front. The
sloping roof forped a classic pediment with Palladian'windows
in the corners. éHere Garrit Furman spent his summers; in 1827,
he and his wife,~Mary Eaton Furman, built themselves a town
house at Madison and Monroe Streets in New York, where the couple

spent the winter season. It was the house in Maspeth, however,
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that was dearest to Garrit Furman's heart; year after year down
to the 1880s he retired to this beautiful summer retreat. The
house and its pleasant surroundings -the singing birds and the
meadows - inspired the judge to write; during the 1840s, a
poem entitled "Rural Hours." Judge Furman published his work
privately and to its frontispiece we are indebted for the sole
surviving portrait of the author and his Maspeth mansion.
Figure 26 is a copy of the drawing of the gracious house. The
property map of land belonging to the heirs of Garrit Furman,
made August 1877, shows only one building structure on plot #3
which is probably the Way farmhouse. (Figure 27) However,

it is thought that the mansion survived until 1899. (Seyfried,
1986:p.2) Figure23 shows its approximate location.

In April 1836 Judge Furman laid out and opened Maspeth
Avenue to serve as a means of approach to this mansion, hitherto
accessible only by water. The new road ran from the junction
of 58th Street and Maurice Avenue westward over marshy ground
to the creek shore. The new road was also a commercial venture:
The Maspeth Avenue and Toll Bridge Company. A bridge was thrown
over Newtown Creek and the road was continued on the Brooklyn
side; toll was collected on the bridge. Judge Furman watched
the building of the road over his land and in which hé had a
financial inter%t and dedicated a little poem to the workers
in his "Rural Hoﬁrs.“ (ibid.,1986:p.2) Various maps of the
period show the path of the road and sometimes the toll house

and other unidentified structures. (Figures 5,28,29,30 & 31)
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Judge Furman died at Maspeth on June 6, 1848 and left
his estate to William H. Furman, his son, who had been born in
1818. Willi amwas passionately fond of trout fishing as a hobby
and whenever business permitted, he visited the numerous small
streams on the south side of Long Island. When he was about
forty-five and well established, he resolved to set up on his
own property a trout hatchery that would stimulate the waning
sport and compensate the streams of Long Island for all the
gamefish he himself had caught over the years. About 1860 he
selected a five acre site on the south side of Maspeth Avenue
and just opposite his mansion (about 56th Street).

The revolutionary feature of Furman's project was that
he proposed to raise trout in an artificial excavation in the
marshy ground near Newtown Creek instead of in a cold, swiftly
running stream. Furman's friends pointed out that the ground
seepage would not be rapid enough to simulate a mountain stream
anéd whatever water he struck would be brackish from tidal flow.
Despite all attempts to dissuade him, Furman persisted; he de-
voted to the task unlimited time, means, devotion and persever-
ance and was rewarded. To everyone's amazement, numerocus springs
of cold, pure water bubbled into his excavations. This was the
beginning of thg trout hatchery, a project that was to be per-
fected over theé next twenty years and which brought a measure
of fame to Mas;:th.

In its final form, the trout hatchery took the shape of

the letter § drawn twicé and connected end on end. Furman tried
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to make the spawning race as "natural” as possible by duplicat-
ing mountain conditions and scenery. Every effort was made

to screen off the stream from invading water rats and human
poachers. By 1870 the Maspeth Trout hatchery was nationally
known and Furman became famous as the leading exponent of natu-
ral breeding, as opposed to milking adult trout and artifically
fertilizing the eggs in indoor hatcheries. During this period
the influx of visitors was often more than Furman could acco-
modate, and he began to discourage parties of the curious who
came out on the horse cars from Brooklyn and used his estate as
a picnic ground and sightseeing attraction.

After about 1885 William Furman began to spend a greater
proportion of his time at a summer residence and trout stream
in Smithtown, Long Island and the Maspeth installation received
less and less attention. It is highly likely that the rapid
development of commerce along the bank of Newtown Creek after
1870 and the consequent gradual pollution of the water was a

factor in the decline of Furman's interest in Maspeth. On Dec-

‘ember 5, 1893 he died suddenly of apoplexy in Smithtown and with

his death the trout hatchery at Maspeth was abandoned. (Figures 23,

31 and 3Z%&how the approximate location of the hatchery stream.

The description ?f the enterprise was compiled by Vincent Sey-

fried,1986:pp.2-% from the following newspaper accounts:

HEMPSTEAD INQUIRER, June 5, 1868;

BROOKLYN TIMES, July 20,1868;July 30,1872; February 5,1870.}
Another wealthy and-prominent neighbor of the Furmans was

James Maurice, born in 18l14. He was a lawyer, State Assemblyman
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and United States Congressman. In October 1840 he bought eight
acres of land from the Furmans and built a mansion on the south
side of Maspeth Avenue which he occupied in June 1841. Maurice
died in 1884. The location of his mansion may be seen on
Figures 6,23 and 30.
History of Maspeth Avenue

As mentioned above, the Maspeth Avenue and Toli Bridge
Company was incorporated in April 8, 1836 to build a toll road
from 58th Street and Maurice Avenue in Maspeth in a straight
line over William Furman's land to the junction of Kingsland
and Metropolitan Avenues in Brooklyn. In 1848 the company won
the right to charge one cent toll for foot passengers over New-
town Creek provided it raised the road two feet above ordinary

tigdes.

The company's charter expired in 1866 but it tried to

- extend its life by turning itself into a railroad company =

the Williamsburgh and Newtown Railroad. The company laid iron
rails on its road in 1867, but before it could begin operation,
the City of Brooklyn took over the part of the road in Williams-
burgh as a public street and raised the gradg. Rather than re-
grade the whole Queens County section of the road to match and
relay the rails,;the company abandoned the railroad pfoject.
In 1873 the proéérty and franchises were sold under foreclosure
and the unused r;ils sold for $10,000.00.

The old road and bridge, now receiving no maintenance,
fell into disrepair and éhe bridge over Newtown Creek became

so unsafe that in 187¢ the authorities removed it. In the
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same year 1876, Grand Street was extended through from Brooklyn
into Queens County with a new bridge over Newtown Creek. Grand
Street paralleled old Maspeth Avenue at a distance of only a

few hundred yards. Travellers preferréd the new and better road,
especially since old Maspeth Avenue now dead-ended at the creek
and went nowhere. 1In a very short time Maspeth Avenue lapsed
into little more than a dirt path. From time to time efforts
were made by the Brooklyn and Queens Supervisors to appropriate
money to rebuild tﬁe Maspeth Avenue bridge and renew the road,
but because Grand Street was adequately accommodating the current
traffic, the authorities felt under no pressure to appropriate
the money. The last efforts were made in 1896, since which the
old road has faded into oblivion. (Seyfried, 1986:p.4) A 1903
Belcher Hyde Atlas shows that the bridge no longer exists (Fig-
ure 33 } and two others (1908 corrected to 1912 and 1929) indicate
that all the portion of Maspeth Avenue in the project area is
opened but not paved@ or otherwise improved. (Figures 22 and34 )
On a 1929 corrected to 1954 Belcher Hyde Atlas, Maspeth Avenue

is inéerrupted several‘hundred feet east of the Resource Recovery
site only to resume for a few hundred feet right at the bank of
Newtown Creek, (Figure 35 ) Figures36 and37 are copies of
photographs takeg in 1923and 1929 respectively and sh&w the
state of the abaé@oned road at that time. The portion shown is
where the road eﬁded at Newtown Creek looking west to Brooklyn.
The path of Maspeth Road is not presently visible on the Resource

Recovery project parcel..
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Commercial History of the Study Area

The Furman's Island (previously Smith's and Maspeth Island)
area has had a long commercial history. It was the opening of
Maspeth Avenue in 1836 as a through road to Brooklyn that first
stimulated the appearance of commercial ventures in the area.
The earliest businesses seem to have sprung up on the Brooklyn
side of the turnpike, but Peter Cooper (founder of Cooper Union)
moved his glue factory in 1849 to a ten acre site on Maspeth
Avenue between Grand Avenue and Debevoise Avenue where it was
active until c.1905. (Stankowski,1977:p.32) On Morgan Avenue
at Maspeth Avenue was the ropewalk of Lawrence and Cooper which

was operating into the 1890s.

On the island itself which encompasses the site of the Re-
source Recovery facility, the first venture was the fertilizer
works of Cord Meyer. Meyer, a German immigrant, was born on
December 4, 1823 and came to America as a young man. He started
the Acme Fertilizer Company on Furman's Island in the 1840s on
creek-front land purchased from the Furmans. He prospered and
built a house for himself on Grand Street at 59th Stréét. 'Using

the capital from his fertilizer business, Meyer became a partner

"in the sugar refining firm of Dick and Meyer on North 7th Street

in Williamsburgh§: This enterprise proved immensely successful
and made both pasiners very wealthy; the Cord Meyer fortune in
1891 was estimated at seven million. Cord Meyer died on June 10,
1891 and the fertilizer business oﬁ the island was then shut
down. His well-educated sons went into real estate, and Cord

Meyer Jr. eventually became the developer of Forest Hills.
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The sons kept title to the old fertilizer works (Seyfried,1986:
p.5) The factory is shown as early as 1859 on the Walling Map
(Figure 5 ) and the structures are shown on Atlases long after
the enterprise was no longer operating. (For, example, Figure 22)
An 1887 company advertisment is reproduced on Figure 38.

On the north side of the island above Maspeth Avenue and
again on creek-front land bought from the Furmans, was located
for many years the lumber and coal yard of Covert and Sons.
Charles G. Covert was born at Maspeth in 1B26; his father Under-
hill Covert, had farmed here in the 18th century. When Charles
grew to manhood, he started a coal and lumber business on Furman's
Island which centinued as his main source of income. He later
went into politicé and served as Supervisor of Newtown in 1858
and 1865. He died on November 24, 1873. This seems to have
been the end bf the lumber yard on the island. (ibid.,1986:p.5)
There are at least five structures shown on that parcel on Beer's
1873 map (Figure 31) and Figure 23 shows mbre clearly the former
location of the lumber yard. However, after 1873 up until
the present buildings appear on land use atlases, only a few
small frame structures are shown. (See Figures32 and 34 for
example)

In 1867 the. newly opened South Side Railroad buiit a spur

L ]}

from its main lil:;:e into Bushwick across Grand Street and Shanty
Creek (the inletthich originally separated Furman's Island
from the mainland) to Furman's Island. The branch added to the
freight business of the road by tapping the Covert lumber yard

and the Meyer fertilizer plant. The spur was still in service
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in 1886 but, according to land atlases, was gone by the 1890s,
probably because of the closure of the fertilizer works after
the death of Cord Meyer Sr. in 189l1. The approximation loca-
tion of the railroad spur is shown on Figure 23.

"In 1852, Maspeth...emerged figm the strung-out settlement
by the Maspeth and Newtown Creeks and began to take shape along
Grand Avenue up as far as modern 69th Street. Two surveyors...
laid out streets and houselots with orderly precision, forming
a grid pattern called a village plat. The streets of the village
plat were arranged so that they ran into the colonial Period
highways of the area." (Stankowski, 1977,p.33) The project
site itself apparently was exempt from the grid plan, probably
because the marshy topography would have necessitated the buildin
of road beds to make the new streets. (See Figures 32&34)

In 189§ the Furman heirs sold all their land holdings,
including Furman's Island to Loweil M. Palmer, a Brooklyn entre-
preneur, for $450,000. Palmer envisioned transforming Furman's
Island with its railroad and water facilities into a rival of
Bush Terminal in south Brooklyn, at that time the largest and
most successful industrial park in the country. To effect this
ambitious project, he formed a syndicate composed of himself,
the Havemeyer sugar trust, and Cord Meyer Jr. who still owned
his father's olé plant. The syndicate - the Palmer Waterfront
Company - waiteg'several years to begin moving on the industrial
park scheme; finally in 1911, they petitioned the city to exempt

the property from propoged street opening proceedings in the
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matter of 54th and 53rd Streets so that the site could be im-
proved as an industrial park and as a canal and railroad terminal.
A year later, the syndicate received the concessions from

the Borough president. The men estimated that the cost of the
improvements would require an expenditure of ten million dollars.
In 1914 Palmer appeared before the Board of Harbor Lines of the
War Department in New York and presented a plan for reforming

the bulkhead lines of upper Newtown Creek and Maspeth Creek so

as to widen the creek to 250 feet and creat a turning basin.

That .date marks the last newspaper reference to the ambitious
project; Possibly the War Department disapproved; possibly, too,
the price tag for the whole scheme proved too high. More likely,
the advent of the European war in 1915 changed the whole econonmic
picture, making the project too chancy a venture to risk. (Sey~- -
fried, 1986,p.6) Figure3 3 shows the extent of the Palmer
syndicate holdings.

About 1920 the Liquid Carbonic Company built a plant be-
tween the o0ld Way farmhouse at 55th Street and the Long Island
Railroad. (Shown on Figure 34) By the end of the 1920s this
had become the Circle Wire and Cable Company. However, all the
land to the west - from 55th Street to Newtown Creek -including
Furman's Island ¢ remained undeveloped through the 20§ and 30s.
By 1920 even shé%ty Creek had silted up and disappeared, leaving
Furman's Island ;nly an expression. Had Maspeth Avenue survived
as a road, the tract might have experienced some commercial use

but the want of a through road and the marshy character of the
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ground, plus the general commercial stagnation all during the
1930s precluded development of the area; A photograph taken in
1923 shows the desolate state of the area. (Figure 39) The '
perspective is looking east past the Way-Mott farmhouse to the
Liquid Carbonic Corporation. The project parcel would be behind
the photographer to the west.

There is no record of a concerted effort to .fill and level
the streams and marshy portions of the Furman's Island are&.
However, some dumping/filling along with the silting process
has obviously taken place over the decades to create today's
land mass. Any low~lying, deserted tract is a convenient dumping
ground. As stated earlier, Stanley Wisniewski recalls seeing
evidence  of such activity in the 1930s, and one can discern
fairly recent fill episodes today, especially on the southern
portions of the study area.

Frances J. Principe, president of the West Maspeth Local
Development Company, moved to Maspeth in 1942. At that time
he was employed by the Aluminum Company of America who, aided
by the U.S. governmenﬁ in its war effort, built a plant on the
100 acres lying on the east side of 48th Street. According to
Mr. Principe it was the area to the east and south of the current
St, Johnsbury's :frontage on 48th Street and the propefty
stretched from g?th Street to Newtown Creek. Due to national
concerns the goéernment disregarded all planned streets and sewer
easements and the result was the confusion of changed street
names and locations that exists today. The placement of the
plant probably corresponds somewhat to the Naval installation

shown on Figure 35.
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Mr. Principe recalls that the Department of Sanitation
property south of the project site was hilly vacant land that
had been dumped upon; he remembers the fill as the same sort
of thing as can be seen today - debris, construction and demo-
lition bits and pieces. In the center of the parcel was a
mound on which stood a small radio station and there were two
radio towers. These had been erected after WWI for radio station
WEVD - named for Eugene V. Debs, Socialist candidate for presi-
dent -~ and stood until fairly recently. (See Figure 40 for
the location) Mr. Principe is unable to remember anything re-
markable abouF the project site, saying the it contained "hill-
ocks of dry solid ground between Newtown Creek and the meanderin
Maspeth Creek." (Frank J. Principe, personal communication,8/86)

The three buildings housing trucking companies which stand_

on the project site today were erected in 1965 and 1966. (Figure 40}

Archaeological Sites in the Maspeth Area

In 1935 an early colonial fireplace dating from circa 1650
was found by Ralph Solecki and Stanley Wisniewski. 1Its loca-
tion was south of Maspeth Avenue and west of thé railroad tracks
between the now extinct Shanty Creek and Maspeth Creek. (This
is south and east of the project site.)

Among the E%;ropean material were 22 pieces of white
kaolin pipestems, 7 complete pipe bowls of which three
were marked with the initials PG on the heel, 1 frag-
mentary pipe bowl, 17 lead buckshot balls about .26
caliber, 2 lead balls about .70 caliber, a dark gun-
flint, 6 small pieceés of blue china plate, 39 hand-
wrought nails, and 26 pieces of clay bricks mentioned
above. These were crudely fashioned, not all of the
same dimensions and somewhat smaller than modern



bricks. There were five whole bricks in the collection.
(Solecki, 1948:p.327)

(See also pages 20 and 21 of this report.)

Wisniewski has reported on other finds in the area:

The property map of land belonging to the heirs of
Garrit Furman, made August 1877, shows only one
building structure on plot No.3 which is north of
Maspeth Avenue and west of the railroad tracks.
[Figure 27 of this report] No large foundation

was present in this area when Ralph Solecki and I
explored the area in the early 1930s. There was only
a small house foundation located about a hundred
feet N.W. of the old Mott Cemetery plot. This small
foundation measured approximately 9' x 15' and may
have been the remains of the old James Way structure.
As I recall, it was composed of rough field stone,
with stone steps entering the basement from the

east side. (Wisniewski, 1986:p.11)

The Vander Ende-Onderdonk House is located on Flushing
Avenue and Onderdonk Avenue east of the study area. It is
included on the National Register of Historic Places. A
number of archaeological projects have been undertaken at
this site which was built on by Handrick Barentz Smidt about
1660.

In MASPETH: OUT TOWN, Barbara Stankowski reported that
"Maspeth had several large pottery concerns which employed
local men and women. Yound girls worked at the Garvis Pipe
Factory where they were employed after school snipping the
ends of clay pipes before they were placed in the kilns.
Garvis Pipe waéilocated in an old frame building near the an-
cient Mott Quaker Cemetery, both of which have been replaced
by the Cerro Wire Company." (1977:p.68)

Solecki and Wisniewski may have found remains of Garvis

Pipe. "Another interesting feature that was still present in the
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1940ts was & pipe makers kiln, located several yards west of the
aforementioned small house foundation (James Wey?)., This con-
slsted of a brick pedestal, some 2 to 3 feet above ground level and
measuring about 18" square; no doubt the remains of the lower kiln
section, still showing bits of fired clay during our initisl dis-
covery. Ralph and I dug through some of the debris that was dis-
carded down the slope adjacent to the north side of the kiln and
round'broken specimens of many different pipe forms, including
some with the initials TD raised en the bowl portion which faced
the smoker. The late Julius Lopez investigated the source of

some of the ki;n bricks marked Henry Maurer No, 1. He was informed
.that the bricks were made between 1870-1920, Lopez also visited
The American Clay Pipe works in N,Y.C, (Dec. 1956) and was told _
that they made TD's in their Brooklyn plant till 1955 and for 50
Years previously., The TD bowls found at the Maspeth site were

1 3/4" high with a 1/4" long round spur at the base and having

& maximum bowl diameter of 1" at the top opening., No complete

TD pipes were found in the debris, but a plain type, minus the
round heel spur, measured L 1/2" ovorail length. Also found in the
refuse was a2 portion of an unglazed plate showing an impression of
the caplitol build%ng at Washington, D.C.. A portion of a ecylin-
drical type wax qgcord player with a garnet point stylus was also
excavated from th% ripe makers dump heap. These cylindrical

_ players were patented from 1878 to 1916, My guess is that this

particular pipemaker manufactured an assortment of pipe styles that
vere 1in style from the very late 1800's to the early 1900's, I
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recall there was a nearby spring at the base of a sandy bluff
that trickled into the marsh and creek to the northwest.
Fresh water of course would be an essential ingredient to
working with clay.” (Wisniewski, 1986: pp.11-12)

No archaeological sites have been reported on the project

parcel itself,

Summary

In summary, documentary research has revealed that settle-
ment and development of the study area in the historic era
began in the mid seventeenth century. In fact, the Maspeth
section of Queens was the earliest European settlement in that
borough and has ever since played a vital role in its community.
As—for-the—p:oiect site itself, however, land use has_been sparse
and none of. it archaeologically significant. For many years
the unused marshy sector.of an island; - the site did host Covert's
coal and lumber yard for several decades in the mid 19th century.
Any further use was too-insignificant.-to .appear -in -the docu-
mentary record until the three existing structures were built
in the 1960s. Their construction was made possible by the
filling, dumping, and silting necessary to raise the naturally

low:li;ggqgg;ge;;tomthe grade level of the surrounding area.

.'1”|



45

Vi. FIELD SURVEY

An intensive pedestrian survey or field reconnaissance
was conducted within the entire project area in an attempt to
locate prehistoric or historic cultural resources and to eval-
uate the archaeoclogical potential of the area. The entire
project area was covered by foot, and the results of this field-
work are as follows:

The proposed Maspeth Resource Recoyery facility site en-
compasses approximately eight acres. Fencing for the trucking
companies located on part of the project site separates a small
southern portion from the larger northern portion of the parcel.
The southern pbrtion blends imperceptibly with Department of
Sanitation property extending as far south as 58th Road which
was once the path of Maspeth Avenue. The surface of the ground -
in this southern section is covered with debris such as bricks,
wood, glass, and concrete chunks. It is evident that numerous
dumping episodes of this rubble have created the uneven terrain
which in some places shows evidence of at least six foot mounds
of refuse. (See Photographs 4, 5, 9, 15, & 16)

Likewise, our field reconnaissance has revealed that ex-
tensive land making/filling has taken place in the northern
portion of the project site bounded by Maspeth Creek,-Newtown
Creek, DOS prop%ty, and 48th Street. Figure 3 shows the project
site; the northefn portion includes all but the small projection
to the south. Nineteenth century maps indicate that this por-
tion of the project area.was once marshland. (Figures 4,5, and

42) Decuments also support this assertion: "Animal fodder was
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gathered from the salt hay growing in the region called the

'cripple bush' by the Dutch. This swamp was vast and lay along

- the Newtown and Maspeth Creeks until late in the 1920s. The

swamp was filled with stagnant salt water pools, and the Mes-
peatches Indians who hid themselves in the swamp region to
escape persecution by the neighboring tribesman called the area
'place of the bad water.'"™ (Stankowski, 1977:p.6)

Atlases of 1912 and 1915 show that the parcel is undebeloped
and part of Furman's Island which is still basically intact at
that time. (Figures 22, 22-A, 32) Eyewitness accounts by
Solecki -and Wisniewski as well as photographs taken by Solecki
also attest to-the fact that the area was still low-lying and
undeveloped, but gradually being filled and silted in. (See,
for example, Solecki's photograph, Figure 14) The St. Johnsbury
trucking terminal today occupies the center of the northern
portion of the project site and is known to have at least a
partial basement. (The St Johnsbury building is the largest
building shown on Figure 40, a tracing of the most recent atlas.}
Thus it is apparent that an enormous amount of £ill must have
been placed between the 1930s and the mid 1960s when the build-
ing was erected.

In the pregious review of the environmental setting, it
was noted that éie highest natural elevations in the study area
occured outside the specific project site - that is, to the
south and east. The 190?-1910 topographic map {(Figure 43)
clearly shows this as well as the nineteenth century maps

mentioned on the previous page. They are no longer visible.



47

Our analysis indicates that ¢the parcel of land immediately
south of the project site and the parcel of land east of the
project site/north of tﬁe Page Place and Maspeth Avenue inter-
section would have been an excellent location for prehistoric
occupation. Both of these locales offered the advantages of an
elevated knoll at the confluence of waterways. Although the
Native Americans apparently preferred occupation sites situated
on well drained terraces or knolls overlooking bodies of water,
they did take advantage of the natural richness of the low areas.
From swampy lands they harvested ample c¢rops of berries, roots,
and seeds for food. From the marshes also came such raw
materials as rhshes for mats and roof coverings and soft cattai
fluff for absorbents. Of natural food sources the most depend-
able day-to-day supply seems for many aboriginally inhabited
areas to have been fish. Another resource of spring and fall,
ducks and geese would brake their flight at inland fresh meadows
and the salt marshes at the shores. In prehistoric times the
project parcel would have afforded the above important resources.
The-project parcel would have most likely functioned as an ex-

tracting _station._and_ not-—a--habitation site. As indicated by

archaeological field investigations throughout the Northeast and
by Solecki's rgsearch in the project area, the Native Americans
would have caicentrated their séttlement activities on the
terraces/elevated terrain at the confluence of the Maspeth,
Newtown, and Shanty Cregks; (Note' on Fig.43 that the 5'-20'
contours to the east of the project site correspond to the areas
that yielded prehistoric artifacts during Solecki's investiga-

tions.)
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Field investigations, studies of early photographs and
documents and cartographic analysis indicate that considerable

-£illing and grading“haS“takeﬁ'ﬁlaée on the project site. The

Bulkhead building activities would have extensively disturbed

‘the topography. The map on Figure 34 illustrates how bulkheading

changed and enlarged the original land mass. The deep rip rap
along the project site's shoreline supports, at least in part,
a considerable yardage of introduced material. These terrain-
altering procedures and the trucking terminals construction

would have most likely obliterated any significant evidence of

prehistoric "extraction activities. -

'f"'"' w,
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VII. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The documentary research and field reconnaissance of the
Resource Recovery - Maspeth site have failed to identify any
evidence of prehistoric occupation within the study afea. The
nearest documented prehistoric sites were located approximately
2000 feet to the east of the project site.

Qur analysis of the environmental and geomorphological
conditions indicates that the land immediately south of the
project site would have been;désirableffor;hnman;occgpatinn;in
prehistoric times. This parcel was a flat elevated terrace in
proximity to agquatic food resources. (This elevated parcel
has been discussed in previous pages. It was located on what
is now DOS broperty, 58th Road - formerly the path of Maspeth
Avenue - and somewhat to the south of 58th Road. It is clearly
visible on Fiéure 43.) The project site itself would have func-
tioned as an extraction station. Although it is very likely
that random prehistoric artifacts.might be discovered on the
project site, it is un@@kelx that the site would -yield valuable
research data on settlement patterns, burial practices, or
nascent agriculture. Recent land development-and construction
on the _project site have greatly .altered the original marsh-

land terrain.

L )

Documentaré research indicates that historic period de-
velopment in th;;study area began in the early seventeenth
century. A small settlement east of the project area - which
was at that time an island - was built at the head of Maspeth

Creek. On the island a small village called Aernheim existed
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from about 1656 to 1660. However, it stands to reason that
the village could only have been built on the solid ground in
the elevated portion of the island rather than in the marsh
which covered the project site at that time. Likewise, maps
prove that the path of the original Maspeth Avenue and its
tol; hoqgg_;an,ggrosg the high ground south of the project site.
Tﬂzbg;fliest known historic occupation of the project site was
by a coal and lumber yard which has long since disappeared.
There is no record of any other land use - historically signif-
icant or otherwise - until the three presently existing
structures were built in the 1960s. Bulkheading, £filling,
silgig:kzdu@p;ggu:and;gradinéﬂactivities-have enlarged the
original land mass while obliterating all traces of the ancient
island configuration. ;

In conciusion, this cultural resource survey has deter-
mined that the Maspeth Project Site is culturally -non-~sensitive.
The construction of the proposed resource recovery facility

B . -
will have NOwIMPAGTfupon the cultural resource base of the areaq\\

P,
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Photo 1
North shore of Maspeth Creek

view: south to north, taken from northwest corner of project site
This parcel is north of the project site,
across Maspeth Creek.

: Photo 2
Intersection of Grand Avenue and 47th Street

view: southeast to northwest
This parcel is south of the project site.
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Photo 3
West shore of Newtown Creek

view: east to west, taken from western shore/boundary of project site
This parcel is west of the project site,
across Newtown Creek in Brooklyn.

Photo 4
Undeveloped land east and south of the southern

portion of the DOS property/project site
view: north to south

This parcel is east and south of the project site.
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Photo 5
Undeveloped land directly south of the southern portion
of the project site.
view: south to north
The parcel (in the forefront of the photo) is south ¢f the
' project site.

Photo 6
48th Street and a warehouse terminal in the eastern
portion of the project site.
view: south to north
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Photo 7
South shore of Maspeth Creek - Northern boundary of
project site
view: northeast to southwest from 49th Street bridge

Photo 8

East shore of Newtown Creek - Southwestern boundary

of project site

view: southeast to northwest
Immediate forefront of photo is parcel south of project and not
under consideration.
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Photo
Resource Recovery ~- Maspeth Site

view: east to west

St. Johnsbury trucking terminal in background of photo.
Betsy Kearns and Stan Wisniewski

Photo
Northeastern corner of project site

view: east to west, intersection of 48th Street and Maspeth
Avenue on the left in the photo [Note: This is not the
path of the original, pre-World War II Maspeth Avenue. ]

*ﬂi'ﬂh.l'.‘

F
[ Zm

- sy v ¥ [ LIiwh]

10



Photo

Wwestern section of project site
view: north to south
Part of the St. Johnsbury trucking terminal complex

Photo

Northern portion of the project site

view: west to east -
Part of the St. Johnsbury trucking terminal
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Northern portion of project site
view: south to north
Southern facade of the St. Johnsbury trucking terminal

Photo

Eastern portion of project site

view: south to north
Eastern fence-boundary of the St. Johnsbury trucking
terminal
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Southern portion

of project site

view:
east to west
"pPile" of dumped
debris on
(approximately)
the project's
south-eastern
boundary line:
brick, glass,
slag, concrete,
wood

scale in feet

Southern portion
of project site
view:
root system
of fallen tr

ol

Note the
concrete, glass,
and brick debris
embedded

in the roots.

scale in feet

Photo
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Tracing of:

MAP OF THE BOROUGH OF QUEENS SHOWING OWNERSHIP AS OF
THE YEAR 1800

0ffice of the President, Topographic Bureau
Nt

repogitory: Queens Borough Public Library

scale: 1" = 1/3 mile

north

364: Henry and Jane Mott to Garret Furman
1815
-+119% acres

242: J. Way to Thomas Folk
1799

365: DeWitt Clinton, 1799, 40 acres

579: Jered Brower to Geo. DeBevoise
1814
50 acres

Fig.4
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Fig. 1. Map showing location of fourteen Eastern United States and Canadian Paleo- Indian sites
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PALEO-INDIAN SETTLEMENT PATTERN
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FIGURE 1

Map of the Studv Area

Photocopied from Eisenberg, 1978: p. 6
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Photocopied from: Lightfoot, et al., 1985: p. 61

Lightfoot et al. Coastal NY Settiement Patterns 61

A

Figure 1. The spatial pattern of coastal New York sites that are reported in
the published literature.
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Photocopied from:

Grumet, 1981: p. 71
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Photocopied from
Solecki, 1941

-
Ltlantic Jecan

=

|

INDIAN VILLAGE SITES: Triangles ondiggram indicale siles ex-
plored oy Commitiee on American antrrovrology of the Flusha-
sng Historical Society. Im#ortant locations descrided in
seccompanying article are numberez.

Fig.1l1



Figure 12

Photograph courtesy of the Long Island Division of the
Queens Borough Public Library, Jamaica

"Catalog of Photographs by Ralph Solecki - Long Island and
Environs, Local Archaeology

No. 2: Maspeth site. Looking east over the site with Burial Ground
(Furman) in center. 1938."

[The stacks were most probably associated with a carbonic plant.

This location is north of the present intersection of Page Place

and Maspeth Avenue, outside the project site.]




Figure 13
Photograph courtesy of the Long island Division
of the Queens Borough Public Library, Jamaica
"Catalog of Photographs by Ralph Solecki - Long Island and

Environs, Local Archaeology

No. 3: Maspeth site. Looking east toward Furman cemetery.
1938." [Same stacks as pictured in No. 2]




Figure 14

Photograph courtesy of the Long Island Division
of the Queens Borough Public Library, Jamaica

"catalog of Photographs by Ralph Sclecki - Long Island and
Environs, Local Archaeology

No. 8: Maspeth site. Maspeth creek looking west from Furman
cemetery. 1934." (The northern portion of the Resource
Recovery - Maspeth site is visible in the photograph,

the left center.]




Figure 15

Photograph courtesy of the Long Island Division
of the Queens Borough Public Library, Jamaica

"Catalog of Photographs by Ralph Solecki - Long Island and
Environs, Local Archaeology

No. 12: Maspeth creek being filled in. Looking north toward
cemetery. 1937." [It is possible that the ordinal direction
listed on the catalog should be east, not north.]
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Figure 16

Photograph courtesy of the Long Island Division
of the Queens Borough Public Library, Jamaica

"catalog of Photographs by Ralph Solecki - Long Island.and
Environs, Local Archaeology"

No. 16: Ralph Solecki on shore of Newtown Creek, Furman Island.
1937." [This photo shows the western boundary of the Resource
Recovery - Maspeth site.]




Figure 17

Photograph courtesy of the Long Island Division
of the Queens Borough Public¢ Library, Jamaica

"Catalog of Photographs by Ralph Solecki - Long Island
and Environs, Local Archaeology .

No. 17: Maspeth site. Furman cemetery, Maspeth Avenue.
1934." [The Montauk Branch of the Long Island Railroad was
located to the east of this parcel/cemetery; the Resource
Recovery - Maspeth site is located to the west of the location
of this parcel/cemetery; and, the project site was separated
from the parcel/cemetery by Shanty Creek. ]




Photocopied from:

Solecki, 1948: p. 98
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Copy of page from DESCRIPTION OF
PRIVATE AND FAMILY CEMETERIES IN
THE BORQUGH OF QUEENS.
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Copy of page from DESCRIPTION OF
PRIVATE AND FAMILY CEMETERIES IN
THE BOROUGH OF QUEENS.

Fig.20
No. 9 LIST OF INSCRIPTIONS IN MOTT CEMETERY
He. 1. MARBLE 1Good) .
In Memery of MARIA m. HOBBY, wha died
2nd mo. 8th, 1877; aged 81 yeors ond ¥ days,
No. 2. MARBLE 1Good) —

P,

in Memory of ELIZA MOTT, whe digd April 1,
1866 oged 73 yeors, & monts Ond T dev.

No. 3. MARBLE (Fairt

In Memery of ESTHER W. MOTY, who died
march 20th, 1854; aged 64 yeers, 11 months
& 4 doys.

Mo. 4. MARBLE cFaur: .

in Memory of Docrr. HENRY MOTT, who diwed
12th Ma. Decamber 1Tth. T839; oped B2 yean,
6 moaths end 17 dovs.

Ma. 5. MARBLE (Foir)

In Mogmory of JANE MOTT, wite of Doctr. Mcnry
MOTT, who died 4th Mo. April 12th, 1834; aged
72 yeurs, 11 months & 4 dovi.

. MNe. & MARBLE 1Fain

in Memory of JOHN WAY MOTT, who died Oc.
tober 251h, 1827; oged 44 yeors O 6 days.

No. 7. MARBLE rFair)

In Mamory of HENRY MOTT MOBRY, who dud
Septewber 25¢h, 1826 oged 4 months ond 7
days.

Me. 8, to ond including Me 13 have MARBLE
HEADSTOMES with no inscriptions.
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Photograph courtesy of the Long Island Division
of the Queens Borough Public Library, Jamaica

"Catalog of Photographs by Ralph Solecki - Long Island and
Environs, Local Archaeclogy"

Maspeth, Queens. De Witt Clinton house marker
at the end of Maspeth Avenue. 1938. Borden Avenue crossroad.

| WORTH B KINE. COY. DYaNTT
CLMTON wornED 0% PLANY %
FOR ERICTANALAWERNT, .

- —

s st

Fig.24



Tracing of ATLAS OF THE BOROUGH OF \
QUEENS. E. Belcher Hyde. 1929

revised to 1954. Scale:1"=160" _ \\\\
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Copy of a drawing of the Garrit
Furman mansion on Maspeth Avenue.

Fig.26



Fig.27
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Tracing of portion of 1852 Map by
James Riker
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Fig.36
Copy of Photograph taken in 1923,
Looking West to Maspeth Avenue on
Brooklyn Shore from Furman's Island.
Furnished by Vincent Seyfried
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Fig.37

Copy of Photograph taken in 1929
The Queens End of Maspeth Avenue
Looking to 0l1d Bridge Abutment and
Brooklyn from Furman's Island.
Furnished by Vincent Seyfried
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Copy of Photograph taken in 1923, Fig.39
Looking east toward Way-Mott

farmhouse and the Liquid Carbonic

Corp. plant on 57th Street. . \

Furnished by Vincent Seyfried.
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Figure 41
Photograph courtesy of Vincent Seyfried

"Looking from Furman's Island along Newtown Creek on May 12, 1884"




CUNTUUR MAP 1891
Photo copy supplied by V. Seyfried

Note elevated knoll and original line
of Maspeth Avenue which lie to the
.. south of the project site.
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Tracing of

ATLAS OF THE BOROUGH OF QUEENS, NEW YORK CITY
E. Belcher Hyde, New York
1928, updated to 1973
Volume 2A, plate 28

L
N
Newtown Creek N) Frie han

1011 ¢ g

Py bt



